# UNIVERSIDAD SAN FRANCISCO DE QUITO

# **Colegio de Postgrados**

# Evidencia de transmisión de genes de resistencia a antibióticos

entre bacterias intestinales aviares y humanas

# Paulina Isabel Armas Freire.

Tesis de grado presentada como requisito para la obtención del título de Máster en Ciencias (MSc) con especialización en Microbiología.

Quito, Diciembre 2011

# Universidad San Francisco de Quito

Colegio de Postgrado

# HOJA DE APROBACION DE TESIS

# Evidencia de transmisión de genes de resistencia a antibióticos

# entre bacterias intestinales aviares y humanas

# Paulina Isabel Armas Freire, MD

Stella de la Torre, Ph.D.	
Decana del Colegio de Ciencias	
Biológicas y Ambientales.	
Gabriel Trueba, Ph.D.	
Director de Tesis.	
Venancio Arana, Ph.D.	
Miembro del Comite de Tesis.	
Marco Fornasini, Ph.D.	
Miembro del Comite de Tesis.	
Víctor Viteri Breedy, Ph.D.	
Decano del Colegio de Postgrados	

Quito, Diciembre 2011

# © Copyright Paulina Isabel Armas Freire 2011

# Dedication

I dedicate this work to my mother, Alejandra. Also dedicate this thesis to Gabriel Trueba and his research team, who work tirelessly with all the ethics that requires scientific work.

## Acknowledgements

I thank God for the countless blessings that poured into my life during the development of this thesis, my family (Alejandra, María de Lourdes and Flor María) and husband for his great love and unconditional support. To my appreciated teachers and friends of the microbiology laboratory in whom I found priceless treasures.

#### Abstract

Commensal *Escherichia coli* was isolated from humans and chickens located in remote communities in the northern Coast of Ecuador. Isolates were subjected to antibiotic susceptibility tests and screened for the presence of *qnrB* gene by polymerase chain reaction (PCR). Phylogenetic analysis showed that *qnrB* genes circulating in *E. coli* from these remote communities, hospital isolates and chicken isolates from an industrial operation suggested that there is a dominant *qnrB* allele in Ecuador. The present results suggest that *qnrB* genes may have been crossing from humans to chickens or vice versa.

#### Resúmen

*Escherichia coli* comensal fue aislada de humanos y aves de corral de comunidades remotas localizadas en la costa norte de Ecuador. Los aislamientos fueron sometidos a pruebas de susceptibilidad antibiótica y detección del gen *qnrB* por reacción en cadena de la polimerasa (PCR).El análisis filogenético demostró que los genes *qnrB* que circulan en *E. coli* de estas comunidades remotas están más estrechamente relacionados con los genes *qnrB* obtenidos de un aislado clínico de *E. coli* obtenido de un hospital de Ecuador que a un gen homólogo obtenido de una granja avícola industrial ecuatoriana. Secuencias de DNA de genes *qnrB* sugieren que existe un alelo *qnrB* dominante en Ecuador, que parece estar compartido por *E. coli* de humanos y de aves de corral.

# **Table of Contents**

# PART I

•	Abstract	V
•	Resumen	vi
•	Table of contents	vii
•	List of figures	viii
•	General Introduction	1
•	Resistance to quinolone	3
•	QNR proteins	6
•	Qnr plasmids	9
•	References	11

# PART II

•	Title of Paper	16
•	Introduction	17
•	Materials and Methods	19
•	Study area	19
•	Samples and bacterial isolates	19
•	Antimicrobial susceptibility tests.	20
•	Polymerase chain reaction amplification	20
	and DNA sequencing	

•	Sequence analysis	21
•	Results	22
•	Antibiotic resistance	22
•	Presence of gene qnrB in E. coli isolates	
	from humans and chickens:	22
•	Phylogenetic analysis of <i>qnrB</i> genes:	22
•	Discussion	23
•	References	25
•	Figure Legends	28

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Maximum Parsimony analysis of qnrB genes Table 1A.

Fluoroquinolone and Gentamycin resistant *E. coli* from remote communities

- Table 1A.
   Fluoroquinolone and Gentamycin resistant E. coli from remote

   communities
- Table 1B.
   Fluoroquinolone resistant E. coli from remote communities

#### **GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

Human society is threatened with the possibility of returning to the pre-antibiotic era due to the increasing antibiotic resistance in microorganisms. Unfortunately infections caused by resistant organisms do not respond to a standard treatment, which prolongs the duration of the disease, increases the cost of the treatment, and the most worrying aspect is that this increases the risk of death (WHO, 2011). One of the examples of this problem is the current antibiotic resistance observed in *Shigella*. Ciprofloxacin, a quinolone, is the only antibiotic currently recommended by World Health Organization(WHO/OPS) for the treatment of bloody diarrhea caused by *Shigella* (WHO, 2011), because many strains of this organism have acquired resistance to other antibiotics. Shigellosis is a disease that affects mainly children; however quinolones are toxic in children; however they are the population most vulnerable to contracting this infection.

Agricultural use of antibiotics has been blamed for some of the antibiotic resistance found currently in human pathogens. WHO/OPS indicates that about half of the current production of antibiotics is used in the livestock to promote growth, to prevent infections and the treat sick animals; one of the key factors that favor the emergence of antimicrobial resistance is the inadequate and irrational use of drugs, especially in livestock (WHO, 2011). One of the main instances was the role that avoparcin (glycopeptide antibiotic used as growth promoter in food animals) played in the selection of resistant strains of *Enterococcus* and dissemination of genes conferring resistance to vancomycin to pathogenic bacteria (French, 1998; Johnsen *et al.*, 2011). Resistance to other antimicrobials such as amoxicillin, ampicillin, bacitracin, cloxacillin, erythromycin, gentamycin, lincomycin, penicillin, polymyxin, spectinomycin, tetracycline,etc, have been influenced by food animal production (Mathew *et al.*, 2007; Hawkey *et al.*, 2009)

Quinolones are one of the last resources left for medical doctors to treat diseases caused particularly by Gram-negative bacteria; new studies have shown that bacterial resistance to quinolone is rising, not just by chromosomal mutations but by resistance genes transferable by plasmids from one bacterium to another.

The finding of plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance (PMQR) in 1998 by Martínez-Martínez, helped to explain how some independent clones of initially susceptible wild-type Enterobacteriaceae reached to develop high-level quinolone resistance. (Martínez-Martínez *et al.*, 1998)

### **RESISTANCE TO QUINOLONE**

Nalidixic acid, a synthetic antimicrobial drug, was the first quinolone introduced into clinical use in 1962. In 1980s appeared ciprofloxacin, a fluoroquinolone with wider spectrum antibacterial activity particularly against gram-negative bacteria (Strahilevitz*et al.*, 2009)

Quinolone resistance has been associated mainly with chromosomal mutations in the gyrase gene (gyrA and gyrB) or topoisomerase IV (parC and parE) gene (Allesiani et al., 2009; Strahilevitz et al., 2009; Hawkey et al., 2009). More recently, plasmid mediated quinolone resistance is associated to qnr genes (qnrA, qnrB, qnrS, qnrC, qnrD, Aac(6')-lb-cr and QepA) (Robicsek et al., 2006; Jacoby et al., 2008; Wang Met al., 2009; Cavaco et al., 2009a; Cavaco et al., 2009b) which are transferred trough conjugation (Kuo et al., 2009; Ma et al., 2009; Wu et al., 2007; Huang et al., 2009; García-Fernández et al., 2009; Zhou et al., 2011). The gene was the most common plasmid mediated quinolone resistance gene (Kim et al., 2009). These genes code for peptides that prevent quinolone from interacting with DNA gyrase and topoisomerase IV (Robicsek et al., 2006; Strahilevitz et al., 2009; Xiong et al., 2011).

It is thought that the use of fluoroquinolones in food-producing animals has contributed to the problem of quinolone resistance in human pathogens such as *Escherichia coli*, *Enterobacter* spp., *Klebsiella* spp., *Citrobacter* sp, *Salmonella* sp, *Campylobacter* sp (Nelson *et al.*, 2007; Yue *et al.*, 2008; Thorsteinsdottir *et al.*, 2010; Xia *et al.*, 2010). Plasmid mediated quinolone resistance in human pathogens has been associated with food-producing animals (McDermott *et al.*, 2001; Johnson *et al.*, 2006; Mathew *et al.*, 2007; Huang *et al.*, 2009; Xia *et al.*, 2010). Plasmid mediated quinolone resistance is also increasing in chicken *E. coli* in some parts of the world (Huang *et al.*, 2009: Riccobono *et al.*, 2011).

Chromosomal quinolone resistance occurs by mutations in gyrase and/or topoisomerase genes. The frequency at which this resistance occurs around the world, due to spontaneous mutations in these genes, is unusual genetic events (with a frequency of  $10^{-14}$  to  $10^{-16}$ ). Plasmid mediated *qnr* resistance is less effective in the reduction of susceptibility to quinolones and it may be the first event in the process of gaining resistance, setting the stage for the chromosomal mutations (Strahilevits *et al.*, 2009).

The discovery of PMQR in the late 1990s was made accidentally (Martínez-Martínez *et al.*, 1998), while studying pMG252, a plasmid from a multiresistant strain of *Klebsiella pneumonia* isolated in 1994 from a patients urine specimen in Alabama. A quinolone was included as a control in a study of the ability of this plasmid to increase resistance to  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics in porin-deficient strains of *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. Researchers found that there was an increase of 4- to 16fold in the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) to quinolone. They then observed that in an *Escherichia coli* strain with intact porins the addition of pMG252 increased the quinolone MICs between 8- and 64-fold. The protein was named Qnr, for quinolone resistance (GenBank accession number AY070235) and now called QnrA1 (Strahilevitz *et al.*, 2009). Eight years later, Jacoby and colleagues while investigating qnrA in strains of *K. pneumonia* from India, found that several could transfer low-level quinolone resistance, but were negative by PCR for *qnrA*(Jacoby *et al.*, 2006). The PMQR gene coded for a 214 or 226 amino-acid protein and was termed *qnrB1* (GenBank accession number DQ351241).

From 1998 to 2011, a wide range of variants of *qnrB* have been found, wider than the *qnrA* and *qnrS* counterparts.Some allele of *qnrB* are: *qnrB2* (Jacoby *et al.*, 2006), *qnrB3* and *qnrB4* (Robicsek *et al.*, 2006), *qnrB5* (Gay *et al.*, 2006); *qnrB13*, *qnrB14*, and *qnrB15* (Tamang *et al.*, 2008) and *qnrB19* describe by Jacoby in 2008 (Jacoby *et al.*, 2008).The QnrB1 protein shares 43% and 44% amino acid identities with QnrA and QnrS, respectively (Jacoby *et al.*, 2006). The *qnr* families (such as *qnrA*, *qnrB*, *qnrS*, *qnrC* or *qnrD*) are defined by a 30% of difference in nucleotide or derived amino acid sequences; and within each family, *qnr* alleles differ in one or more amino acids (Jacoby *et al.*, 2008). Two of the five known *qnr* gene families (*qnrC* and *qnrD*) were first reported in 2009 (Wang *et al.*, 2009).

Subsequently, two genes were found also carried on plasmids:  $AAC(6_)$ -*lb-cr*, a variant aminoglycoside acetyltransferase capable of reducing ciprofloxacin activity (Vetting *et al.*, 2008), which may be even more prevalent than Qnr proteins, and

*qepA*, a quinolone extrusion (Gay *et al.*, 2006). Both mechanisms provide the lowlevel quinolone resistance shown in vitro to facilitate the emergence of higherlevel resistance in the presence of quinolones at therapeutic levels (Strahilevitz *et al.*, 2009; Robicsek *et al.*, 2006). Thirteen years have passed since the first report of PMQR, but knowledge is still expanding quickly.

# **Qnr PROTEINS**

To understand how Qnr work, it is necessary to understand the mechanism of action of quinolones. The two quinolone targets, the type II topoisomerase enzymes DNA gyrase and topoisomerase IV, regulate conformational changes in the topology of DNA by catalyzing the breakage and rejoining of DNA strands during cellular division. The DNA gyrase catalyze the ATP-dependent negative supercoiling of DNA, and therefore it is necessary for the initiation of DNA synthesis (Strahilevitz *et al.*, 2009). The main role of topoisomerase IV is to decatenate daughter replicons, measured in the decatenation of kinetoplast DNA. Both enzymes are heterodimers; DNA gyrase is composed of two A subunits and two B subunits, and topoisomerase IV is also an A2B2 enzyme composed of two ParC and two ParE subunits. The ParC subunit is homologous to GyrA, and ParE is homologous to GyrB. In brief, quinolones inhibit gyrase-mediated DNA supercoiling and topoisomerase IV-mediated DNA decatenation (Tran *et al.*, 2005).

Qnr proteins are part of the pentapeptide repeat family, which is defined by a series of tandem 5 amino-acid repeats. In the pentapeptide repeats, no position is completely conserved, but each of the residues of an individual pentapeptide exhibits a tendency for a restricted number of amino acids with the recurrent general motif roughly represented by the sequence A(D/N)LXX and particularly represented by [Ser, Thr, Ala, or Val][Asp or Asn][Leu or Phe][Ser, Thr, or Arg][Gly] (Vetting *et al.*, 2006; Strahilevitz *et al.*, 2009). Qnr proteins, often have a cysteine at position *i*\_2 (with position *i* representing the central amino acid of each repeat). A characteristic feature of the Qnr proteins is that they are formed by two domains of pentapeptide repeats separated by a single amino acid, usually glycine. Primary structures of QnrA, QnrB, and QnrS are similar, with nine pentapeptide repeat units connected by a single glycine, followed by a cysteine, with variable numbers of units (22 in QnrS, 28 in QnrA, and 29 inQnrB, QnrC, and QnrD) (Vetting *et al.*, 2006; Strahilevitz *et al.*, 2009).

The mechanism of the Qnr protective effect has been shown through gel retardation assays, where QnrA can bind to the DNA gyrase holoenzyme as well as to its respective subunits, GyrA and GyrB. This binding did not require the presence of the ternary complex of enzyme, DNA, and quinolone. Similar findings were also reported for QnrA and *E. coli* topoisomerase IV (Tran *et al.*, 2005). It was proposed that QnrA binds to gyrase or topoisomerase IV at a site overlapping the DNA binding site. Recent data suggests that MfpAMt (pentapeptide repeat protein identified on the chromosome of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* having 18.9% amino acid similarity to QnrA ) and QnrB4 may interact with DNA gyrases in a gyrase specific manner, so QnrB4 protected *E. coli* but not *M. tuberculosis* gyrase from the inhibitory effect of fluoroquinolone and MfpAMt protected *M. tuberculosis* but not

*E. coli* gyrase (Jacoby *et al.*, 2008; Rodriguez-Martínez *et al.*, 2006; Strahilevits *et al.*, 2009).

In year 2011, Xion and colleagues have shown that, consistent with previous results from other aquatic organisms such as *Vibrio, Shewanella* and *Stenotrophomonas* spp., *A. hydrophila* contains a chromosomal pentapeptide repeat protein (AhQnr), qnr like protein, that in its recombinant form increases the quinolone MIC of host *E. coli* and protects *E. coli* DNA gyrase from quinolone inhibition in vitro assays of supercoiling activity. This study provides the AhQnr crystal structure, the first for any Gram-negative Qnr, where reveals two prominent loops (1 and 2) that project from the PRP structure.

Xion present a model for the AhQnr: DNA gyrase interaction where loop1 interacts with the gyraseA and loop2 with the gyraseB domains, this could be the general mechanism for the interactions of Qnr proteins with DNA gyrase in Gram-negative bacteria (Xion *et al.*, 2011).

Plasmid-carried *qnrB* alleles have been shown to have upstream LexA binding sites. Quinolones, mitomycin, and possibly other DNA-damaging agents as part of the SOS response have increased the level of expression of qnrB (Wang M. *et al.*, 2009). Da Re maintain that QnrB may have a native function in protection from naturally occurring DNA-damaging agents, besides some, *qnrB*-containing strain, do not express quinolone resistance in non-inducing conditions, in other words act as silent resistance gene, however this resistance will be activated under selective antibiotic pressure (Da Re *et al.*, 2009).

## **Qnr PLASMIDS**

The plasmids carrying the qnr vary in size and specificity, suggesting that the propagation of multiple plasmids has been responsible for the dissemination of this resistance worldwide. Sometimes the plasmids are so similar that a broad dissemination of the same plasmid does appear likely. Analysis of the genetic environment around the cloned qnrB genes showed that they were present in diverse plasmid backbones, sometimes within novel genetic contexts, but always associated with mobile or transposable elements to generate the diversity of plasmid structures seen today (Strahilevits *et al.*, 2009; Pei *et al.*, 2009)

Most *qnrB* alleles show a wide distribution, for example *qnrB1*was discovered on a 340-kb multiresistance plasmid from India (Jacoby *et al.*, 2006) and was subsequently reported in Europe and Asia (Park *et al.*, 2007; Murray *et al.*, 2008; Strahilevits *et al.*, 2009); *qnrB2*was found originally in isolates from the United States (Jacoby *et al.*, 2006) and subsequently in isolates from South Korea (Park *et al.*, 2007),The Netherlands (Veldman *et al.*, 2008), Scotland (Murray *et al.*, 2008), China (Yang *et al.*, 2008), Taiwan (Wu *et al.*, 2008), etc.

On the other hand *qnrB19* was originally found incommensal enterobacteria from healthy children living in South America (Pallecchi *et al.*, 2009) and few alleles have been found worldwide. Pallecchi and colleagues observed a high prevalence (54%) of *qnrB* genes in a metagenomic analysis of commensal enterobacteria from healthy children living in Peru and Bolivia, and shown the presence of 67% of pECY6-7- and 16% of pECC14-9-like plasmids, suggesting a key role in the widespread dissemination of *qnrB* through these small plasmids (Pallecchi *et al.*, 2010). The gene *qnrB19* was also reported for an *S. enteric* serovar Typhimurium strain from The Netherlands (García-Fernández *et al.*, 2009), and a *K. pneumonia* isolate on an 80-kb plasmid from the United States (Strahilevits *et al.*, 2009)

Some alleles of *qnrB* are associated with  $\beta$ -Lactamase genes, and also to the ESBLs SHV-12, TEM-52, CTXM- 3, CTX-M-9, CTX-M-14, CTX-M-15 and blaVIM-1 (Yang *et al.*, 2008, Tamang *et al.*,2008; Wu *et al.*, 2008; Jacoby *et al.*, 2008; Miró *et al.*, 2010; Park *et al.*, 2007; Yang *et al.*, 2008; Dolejska *et al.*, 2010). The study by Kuo et al, demonstrated a close linkage between the *qnrS* gene and *bla*CTX-M-1, suggesting CTX-M and Qnr might be co-emerging in *E. coli* strains isolated from healthy chickens and pigs under selective pressure of quinolone and cephalosporine administration (Kuo *et al.*, 2009). In addition, *qnrB4* alleles are closely linked to eight genes or pseudogenes unrelated to antibiotic resistance:

sapA and sapB which are peptide transport system permeases (Strahilevits et al., 2009).

The presence of several types of antibiotic resistance in the same plasmid facilitates the dissemination of multidrug-resistant *Enterobacteriaceae*, hence, the use quinolone could select not only for quinolone resistance, but also cephalosporin, aminoglycosides resistance and any other forms of resistance borne on plasmids carrying PMQR genes.

## References

Alessiani A, Di Giannatale E, Perilli M, Forcella C, Amicosante G & Zilli K (2009) Preliminary investigations into fluoroquinolone resistance in Escherichia coli strains resistant to nalidixic acid isolated from animal faeces. *Vet Ital***45**: 521-527.

Cavaco LM & Aarestrup FM (2009a) Evaluation of Quinolones for Use in Detection of Determinants of Acquired Quinolone Resistance, Including the New Transmissible Resistance Mechanisms *qnrA*, *qnrB*, *qnrS*, and *aac*(6\_)*lb-cr*, in *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella enterica* Determinations of Wild-Type Distributions. J. Clin. Microbiol.47: 2751–2758.

Cavaco LM, Hasman H, Xia S & Aarestrup FM (2009b) *qnrD*, a novel gene conferring transferable quinolone resistance in *Salmonella entéricas*erovars Kentucky and Bovismorbificans of human origin. *Antimicrob AgentsChemother***53**:603–608.

Da Re S, Garnier F, Guérin E, Campoy S, Denis F & Ploy MC (2009) TheSOSresponse promotes qnrB quinolone-resistance determinant expression. *EMBO reports***10**: 929-933

Dolejska M, Duskova E, Rybarikova J, Janoszowska D, Roubalova E, Dibdakova K, Maceckova G, Kohoutova L, Literak I, Smola J &Cizek A (2011) Plasmids carrying blaCTX-M-1 and qnr genes in Escherichia coli isolates from an equine clinic and a horseback riding centre. *J AntimicrobChemother* 1-8

Eisenberg JN, Cevallos W, Ponce K, Levy K, Bates SJ, Scott JC, Hubbard A, Vieira N, Endara P, Espinel M, Trueba G, Riley LW &Trostle J (2006) Environmental change and infectious disease: how new roads affect the transmission of diarrheal pathogens in rural Ecuador. *ProcNatlAcadSci U S A* **103**:19460-5.

French GL (1998) Enterococci and Vancomycin Resistance. Clin. Infect Dis 27: 75-83.

Hawkey PM, & Jones AM (2009) The changing epidemiology of resistance. *J.Antimicrob.Chemother***64**:13-20

García-Fernández A, Fortini1 D, Veldman K, Mevius D &Carattoli A (2009) Characterization of plasmids harbouring*qnrS1*, *qnrB2* and *qnrB19* genes in Salmonella. J. Antimicrob.Chemother**63**: 274–281 Gay, K., A. Robicsek, J. Strahilevitz, C. H. Park, G. Jacoby, T. J. Barrett, F. Medalla, T. M. Chiller, & and D. C. Hooper. 2006. Plasmid-mediatedquinolone resistance in non-Typhi serotypes of *Salmonella enterica*. Clin.Infect. Dis. **43**:297–304.

Harada K &Asai T (2010) Role of Antimicrobial Selective Pressure and Secondary Factors on Antimicrobial Resistance Prevalence in *Escherichia coli* from Food-Producing Animals in Japan.*J. Biomed Biotechnol*: 1-12.

Huang SY, Dai L, Xia LN, Du XD, Qi YH, Liu HB, Wu CM & Shen JZ (2009) Increased Prevalence of Plasmid-Mediated Quinolone Resistance Determinants in Chicken *Escherichia coli* Isolates from 2001 to 2007. *Foodborne Pathog Dis* **6**: 1203-1209.

Jacoby GA, Walsh KE, Mills DM, Walker VJ, Oh H, Robicsek A & Hooper DC (2006) *qnrB*, Another Plasmid-Mediated Gene for Quinolone Resistance. *Antimicro.AgentsChemother***50**:1178–1182.

Jacoby G, Cattoir V, Hooper D, Martínez-Martínez L, Nordmann P, Pascual A, Poirel L& Wang M (2008) *qnr*Gene Nomenclature. *Antimicro.AgentsChemother***52**:2297–2299.

Johnsen PJ, Townsend JP, Bøhn T, Simonsen GS, Sundsfjord A & Nielsen KM (2011) Retrospective evidence for a biological cost of vancomycin resistance determinants in the absence of glycopeptide selective pressures. *J. Antimicrob.Chemother***66**: 608–610.

Johnson JR, Kuskowski MA, Menard M, Gajewski A, Xercavins M & Garau J(2006) Similarity between human and chicken *Escherichia coli* isolates in relation to ciprofloxacin resistance status. *J Infect Dis***194**:71-78.

Kim HB, Park CH, Kim CJ, Kim EC, Jacoby GA & Hooper DC (2009) Prevalence of Plasmid-Mediated Quinolone Resistance Determinants over a 9-Year Period. *Antimicro.AgentsChemother***53**: 639–645.

Kuo HC, Chou CC, Tu C, Gong SR, Han CL, Liao JW & Chang SK (2009) Characterization of plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance by the *qnrS*gene in *Escherichia coli* isolated from healthy chickens and pigs.*Vet Med*, **54**: 473–482.

Ma J, Zeng Z, Chen Z, Xu X, Wang X, Deng Y, Lu D, Huang L, Zhang Y, Liu J & Wang M (2009) High prevalence of plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance determinants *qnr*, *aac*(6\_)-*lb-cr*, and *qepA*amongceftiofur- resistant *Enterobacteriaceae*isolates from companion and food-producing animals. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother***53**:519–524.

McDermott PF, Bodeis SM, English LL, White DG, Walker RD, Zhao S, SimjeeS&Wagner DD (2002) Ciprofloxacin resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni* evolves rapidly in chickens treated with fluoroquinolones.*J InfectDis*185: 837-840.

Martínez-Martínez L, Pascual A & Jacoby GA (1998) Quinoloneresistancefrom a transferable plasmid. *Lancet* **351**:797–799.

Mathew AG, Cissell R &Liamthong S (2007) Review Antibiotic Resistance in Bacteria Associated with Food Animals: A United States Perspective of Livestock Production. *Foodborne Pathog Dis***4**:115-133.

Miro´ E, Segura C, Navarro F, Sorlı´ Ll, Coll P, Horcajada JP, Alvarez-Lerma F &Salvadó M (2010) Spread of plasmids containing the blaVIM-1 and blaCTX-M genes and the qnr determinant in *Enterobacter cloacae*, *Klebsiellapneumoniae* and *Klebsiellaoxytoca* isolates. *J AntimicrobChemother***65**: 661–665.

Murray A, Mather H, CoiaJE & Brown DJ (2008). Plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance in nalidixic-acid-susceptible strains of *Salmonellaenterica*isolated in Scotland.*J. Antimicrob. Chemother*.**62**:1153–1155.

Nelson JM, ChillerTM, Powers JH & AnguloFJ (2006) Fluoroquinolone-Resistant *Campylobacter* Species and the Withdrawal of Fluoroquinolones from Use in Poultry: A Public Health Success Story. *Food Safety* • *ClD*44 : 977-980.

PallecchiL, Riccobono E, Mantella A, Bartalesi F, Sennati S, Gamboa H, Gotuzzo E, Bartoloni A Gian&Rossolini M (2009) High Prevalence of *qnr*Genes in Commensal Enterobacteria from Healthy Children in Peru and Bolivia. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother***53**:2632–2635.

Park YJ, Yu JK, Lee S, Oh EJ & Woo GJ (2007) Prevalence and diversity of qnr alleles in AmpC-producingEnterobacter cloacae, Enterobacteraerogenes, CitrobacterfreundiiandSerratiamarcescens: a multicentre study from Korea. J AntimicrobChemother60: 868–871

Riccobono E, PallecchiL, Mantella A, Bartalesi F, Chavez I, Trigoso C, Villagran AL, Bartoloni A & Rossolini GM (2011) Carriage of Antibiotic-Resistant *Escherichia coli* Among Healthy Children and Home-Raised Chickens: A Household Study in a Resource-Limited Setting. *Microb.DrugResist* **00**: 1-5.

Robicsek A, Jacoby GA & Hooper DC (2006) The worldwide emergence of plasmidmediated quinolone resistance. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* **6**:629–640. Rodríguez-Martínez JM, Velasco C, Briales A, García I, Conejo MC & Pascual A (2008) Qnr-like pentapeptide repeat proteins in Gram-positive bacteria. J AntimicrobChemother61: 1240–1243.

Rodriguez-Martinez JM, Velasco C, Pascual A, Garcia I & Martinez-Martinez L (2006) Correlation of quinolone resistance levels and differences basal and quinolone-induced expression from three *qnrA*-containing plasmids. *Clin.Microbiol. Infect.* **12**:440–445.

Strahilevitz J, Jacoby GA, Hooper DC & Robicsek A (2009) Plasmid-Mediated Quinolone Resistance: a Multifaceted Threat. *Clin.Microbiol. Rev* **22**: 664-689.

Tamang MD, Seol SY, Oh JY, Kang HY, Lee JC, Lee YC, Cho DT & Kim J (2008) Plasmid-Mediated Quinolone Resistance Determinants *qnrA*, *qnrB*, and *qnrS*among Clinical Isolates of *Enterobacteriaceae*in a Korean Hospital. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother***52**: 4159–4162.

Thorsteinsdottir TR, Haraldsson G, Fridriksdottir V, Kristinsson KG & Gunnarsson E (2010) Broiler Chickens as Source of Human Fluoroquinolone- Resistant *Escherichia coli*, Iceland.*Emerg.Infect Dis*16: 133-135.

Tran JH, Jacoby GA & Hooper DC (2005) Interaction of the plasmid-encoded quinolone resistance protein Qnr with *Escherichia coli* DNA gyrase. *Antimicrob.Agents Chemother.***49**:118–125.

Tran JH, Jacoby GA & Hooper DC (2005) Interaction of the plasmid-encoded quinolone resistance protein QnrA with *Escherichia coli* topoisomerase IV. *Antimicrob.Agents Chemother.***49**:3050–3052.

Veldman K, van Pelt W & Mevius D (2008) First report of *qnr*genes in *Salmonella* in The Netherlands. J. *Antimicrob. Chemother*.**61:**452–453.

Vetting MW, Hegde SS, Fajardo JE, Fiser A, Roderick SL, Takiff HE &Blanchard JS (2006) Pentapeptide repeat proteins.*Biochemistry***45**:1–10.

Vetting MW, Park CH, Hegde SS, Jacoby GA, Hooper DC & and Blanchard JS (2008) Mechanistic and structural analysis of aminoglycosideN-acetyltransferaseAAC(6\_)-Ib and its bifunctional, fluoroquinoloneactiveAAC(6\_)-Ib-cr variant. *Biochemistry***47**:9825–9835. Vieira N, Bates SJ, Solberg OD, Ponce K, Howsmon R, Cevallos W, Trueba G, Riley L &Eisenberg JN (2007) High prevalence of enteroinvasive*Escherichia coli* isolated in a remote region of northern coastal Ecuador. *Am J Trop Med Hyg***76**:528-33.

Wang A, Yang Y, Lu Q, Wang Y, Chen Y, Deng L, Ding1 H, Deng Q, Zhang H, Wang C, Liu L, Xu X, Wang L&Shen X (2008)Presence of *qnr*gene in *Escherichia coli* and *Klebsiellapneumoniae*resistant to ciprofloxacin isolated from pediatric patients in China.*BMC Infectious Diseases* **8**:68.

Wang M, Guo Q, Xu X, Wang X, Ye X, Wu S, Hooper DC & Wang M (2009) New plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance gene, *qnrC1*, found in a clinical isolate of *Proteus mirabilis*. *Antimicrob*. *Agents Chemother***53**:1892–1897.

World Health Organization (2011) http://www.who.int/world-health-day/2011/en/

Wu JJ, Ko WC, Tsai SH & Yan JJ (2007) Prevalence of Plasmid-Mediated Quinolone Resistance Determinants QnrA, QnrB, and QnrS among Clinical Isolates of *Enterobacter cloacae* in a Taiwanese Hospital.*Antimicrob. Agents Chemother***51**:1223–1227.

Xia LN, Li L, Wu CM, Liu YQ, Tao XQ, Dai L, Qi YH, Lu LM & Shen JZ (2010) A Survey of Plasmid-Mediated Fluoroquinolone Resistance Genes from *Escherichia coli* Isolates and their dissemination in Shandong, China. *Foodborne Pathog Dis***7**: 207-215.

Xiong X, Bromley E, Oelschlaeger P, Woolfson DN & Spencer J (2011) Structural insights into quinolone antibiotic resistance mediated by pentapeptide repeat proteins: conserved surface loops direct the activity of a Qnr protein from a Gramnegative bacterium. *Nucleic Acids Research* 1-11.

Yang J, Luo Y, Li J, Ma Y, Hu C, Jin S, Ye L & Cui S (2010) Characterization of clinical Escherichia coli isolates from China containing transferable quinolone resistance determinants. J *AntimicrobChemother***65**: 453–459

Yue L, Jiang HX, Liao XP, Liu JH, Li SJ, Chen XY, Chen CX, Lû DH & Liu YH (2008) Prevalence of plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance *qnr*genes in poultry and swine clinical isolates of *Escherichia coli*. *Vet. Microbiol***132**:414–420.

Zhou TL, Chen XJ, Zhou MM, Zhao YJ, Luo XH &Bao QY (2011) Prevalence of Plasmid-Mediated Quinolone Resistance in *Escherichia coli* Isolates in Wenzhou, Southern China, 2002-2008. *Jpn. J. Infect. Dis* **64**: 55-57. Part II

# Evidence of transmission of *qnrB* genes between commensal *E. coli* from humans and chickens

Paulina I. Armas-Freire.<sup>1</sup>, Gabriel Trueba<sup>1</sup>, Carl Marrs<sup>2</sup>, Karen Levy<sup>3</sup>, Lixin Zhang<sup>2</sup>, Carolina Proaño<sup>1</sup>, Juan Carlos Escobar<sup>1,</sup> Sonia Zapata<sup>1</sup>, Joe Eisenberg<sup>2</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>Microbiology Institute, Universidad San Francisco de Quito, Quito-Ecuador.
 <sup>2</sup>School of Public Health, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, USA
 <sup>3</sup>Department of: Environmental Health Epidemiology, EmoryUniversity, Atlanta, US

## Introduction

Agricultural use of antibiotics has been blamed for some of the antibiotic resistance found currently in human pathogens. One of the main examples of this is the role that avoparcin (glycopeptide antibiotic used as growth promoter in food animals) has been shown to have played in the selection of resistant strains of *Enterococcus* and dissemination of genes conferring resistance to vancomycin to pathogenic bacteria (French, 1998; Johnsen *et al.*, 2011). Resistance to other antimicrobials such as amoxicillin, ampicillin, bacitracin, cloxacillin, erythromycin, gentamycin, lincomycin, penicillin, polymyxin, spectinomycin, tetracycline, etc, have been influenced by food animal production (Mathew *et al.*, 2007; Hawkey *et al.*, 2009; Harada *et al.*, 2010)

Quinolone resistance has been associated mainly with chromosomal mutations in the gyrase gene (gyrA and gyrB) or topoisomerase IV (parC and parE) gene (Allesiani et al., 2009; Strahilevitz et al., 2009; Hawkey et al., 2009). More recently, plasmid mediated quinolore resistance is associated to qnr genes (qnrA, qnrB, qnrS, qnrC, qnrD, Aac(6')-Ib-cr and QepA) (Robicsek et al., 2006; Jacoby, et al., 2008; Wang M, et al., 2009; Cavaco et al., 2009a; Cavaco et al., 2009b) which are transferred trough conjugation (Kuo et al., 2009; Ma et al., 2009; Wu et al., 2007; Huang et al., 2009; Garacía-Fernández et al., 2009; Zhou et al., 2011). These genes code for peptides that prevent quinolone interaction with DNA gyrase and topoisomerase IV (Robicsek *et al.*, 2006; Strahilevitz *et al.*, 2009; Xiong *et al.*, 2011).

It is thought that the use of fluoroquinolones in food-producing animals has contributed to the problem of quinolone resistance in human pathogens such as *Escherichia coli*, *Enterobacterspp.*, *Klebsiellaspp., Citrobactersp*, *Salmonella sp, Campylobacter sp*(Nelson *et al.*, 2007; Yue *et al.*, 2008; Thorsteinsdottir *et al.*, 2010; Xia, *et al.*, 2010). Plasmid mediated quinolone resistance in human pathogens has been associated with food-producing animals (McDermott *et al.*, 2001; Johnson *et al.*, 2006; Mathew *et al.*, 2007; Huang *et al.*, 2009; Xia *et al.*, 2010). Plasmid mediated quinolone resistance is also increasing in chicken *E. coli* in some parts of the world (Huang *et al.*, 2009: Riccobono *et al.*, 2011).

This report describes the presence of *qnrB* genes in human and chicken *E. coli* isolates from remote communities located in the northern region of the Ecuadorian coast. Additionally it suggested that a fluoroquinolone resistance gene was transferred from chicken to human micobiota or vice versa in this region.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Study area

In 1996, the Ecuadorian government began the construction of a highway along the north coast to facilitate the access to this region; this building was completed in 2001. The secondary roads that link communities with urban centers are being built today (Bates *et al.*, 2007).

At this region there is limited sanitation infrastructure (Levy *et al.*, 2008), which inevitably leads to contamination of large river system in the area, which correlates with high rates of diarrheal disease observed in the population (Eisenberg *et al*, 2006; Vieira *et* al, 2007).

Borbón area has been a victim of deforestation and mining exploitation without technical measures, all of which has affected the local climate and hydrological patterns (Levy *et al*,2009).

Bacterial strains were obtained from 21 remote communities of Borbn, all located within the drainage system of three rivers: the Cayapas, the Santiago, and the Onzole, in northwestern Ecuador from 2009 to 2010. The study was part of a larger ongoing research project in this region (Viera *et al.*, 2007; Eisenberg *et al.*, 2006). All protocols were approved by the University of Michigan Institutional Review Board and Universidad San Francisco de Quito's bioethics committees.

#### Samples and bacterial isolates

A total of 2366 isolates were obtained from remote communities, 1167 from humans (fecal samples) and 1199 from chickens (rectal swab). Chicken samples came from two groups of birds: a) 224isolates from45 mixed-breed and raised free range chickens and b)975isolates from217 broiler chickens which were purchased by local farmers few days after hatching from an industrial operator and raised in confined spaces (houses). Additionally we obtained 50 fluoroquinolone resistant E. coli isolates from a chicken industrial operation (located in the Ecuadorian Coast at 300 kilometers approximately from the remote communities), 61uropathogenicfluoroquinolone resistant E. coli isolates from hospital Vozandes in Quito (generously donated by Janet Zurita), 42 from hospital Carlos Andrade Maríndonated by Isabel Narváez, and 11 from Microbiology Institute, USFQ. For each stool sample five lactose-fermenting colonies were isolated on a MacConkey agar plate. Colonies with typical E. coli morphology on MacConkey agar were confirmed with biochemical testing.

#### Antimicrobial susceptibility tests.

Isolates were subjected to a Kirby-Bauer antibiotic susceptibility test in accordance with the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute guidelines. Twelve antibiotics were tested: Amoxicillin-Clavulanic Acid, Ampicillin, Cefotaxime, Cephalothine, Chloramphenicol, Ciprofloxacine, Enrofloxacine, Gentamicin, Streptomycin, Sulfisoxazole, Tetracycline and Trimethoprim-Sulfamethoxazole.

## Polymerase chain reaction amplification and DNA sequencing

Bacterial DNA from single fluoroquinolone resistant colonies was released from cells using a boiling technique (Vieira et al., 2006). A PCR reaction for qnrB genes was carried out as previously described (Huang et al., 2009) using primers to amplify internal fragments of the target genes: qnrB F 5"-GGMATHGAAATTCGCCACTG-3" and qnrB R 5'-TTTGCYGYYCGCCAGTCGAA-3'. PCR conditions were as follows: 95 °C for 5 min and 35 cycles,  $94^{\circ}$  C, for 30 sec,  $56^{\circ}$  C for 40 sec and  $72^{\circ}$  C for 1 min and a final incubation at  $72^{\circ}$  C for 10 min.

DNA Sequences from these isolates RemHUM2, RemHUM3, RemCHK10, RemCHK12, RemCHK13 and RemCHK17 were sequenced both strands, by company in Wisconsin (Functional Biosciences); however sequences from these RemHUM1,RemHUM4, RemHUM5, RemCHK6, RemCHK7, RemCHK8, RemCHK9, RemCHK11, RemCHK14, RemCHK15, RemCHK16, RemCHK18, RemCHK19, RemCHK20, RemCHK21, RemCHK22, RemCHK23, IndCHK24, IndCHK25, IndCHK26, *E.coli*Quito27 isolates were sequenced only one strand by Michigan of University DNA Sequencing Core. Accession numbers for the *qnrB* genes described in this report are strain RemHUM, RemCHK, IndCHK, E. coli, accession number: JN714812 to JN714838 or (RemHUM1 JN714812, RemHUM2 JN714813, RemHUM3 JN714814, RemHUM4 JN714815, RemHUM5 JN714816, RemCHK6 JN714817,
RemCHK7 JN714818, RemCHK8 JN714819, RemCHK9 JN714820, RemCHK10
JN714821, RemCHK11 JN714822, RemCHK12 JN714823, RemCHK13 JN714824,
RemCHK14 JN714825, RemCHK15 JN714826, RemCHK16 JN714827, RemCHK17
JN714828, RemCHK18 JN714829, RemCHK19 JN714830, RemCHK20 JN714831,
RemCHK21 JN714832, RemCHK22 JN714833, RemCHK23 JN714834, IndCHK24
JN714835, IndCHK25 JN714836, IndCHK26 JN714837, *E.coli* JN714838).

### Sequence analysis

The analysis of Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) was performed with each one of the obtained sequences.

The statistical analysis is purely descriptive, based on frequencies and percents.

#### Results

#### Antibiotic resistance:

No major differences in antibiotic susceptibility patterns of human and chicken isolates from remote communities were observed, except for an increased resistance to ciprofloxacin (19%) and gentamycin (14%) in chicken isolates compared to 3% ciprofloxacin and 1,3% gentamycin resistances in human isolates (Table1A)

#### Presence of gene *qnrB* in *E. coli* isolates from humans and chickens:

There was a notorious difference in the percentage of fluoroquinolone resistant isolates (FRI) carrying qnrBgenes in isolates from chickens and humans. In remote communities 31.25% of human isolates, 31.25% of mixed breed chickens and 3.6% of the broiler chicken isolates carried qnrB(table 1B). On the other hand FRI from the poultry industrial operation showed 6% of *qnrB* gene carriage and fluoroquinolone resistant isolates obtained from hospitals in Quito showed 1.6% of *qnrB* gene carriage.

## Phylogenetic analysis of *qnrB* genes:

Analysis of nucleotide sequences showed that *qnrB* genes amplified from *E. coli* isolates (from humans and chickens) from remote communities, *qnrB* genes amplified from *E. coli* isolated from industrial operation and *qnrB* from clinical *E.coli* isolated from hospital in Quito clustered together using Maximun Parsimony analysis (Fig 1).

#### Discussion

All Ecuadorian *qnrB* sequences seemed to be the same including the sequences from the industrial operation which clustered together to the rest of Ecuadorian sequences but showed 5 nucleotide diference which cuould be sequence error because these amplicons were sequenced just one strand. The fact that all Ecuadorian qnrB sequences analyzed in Borbon and urban hospital in Quito seemed to be the same allele and clustered apart form other qnrB suggests that they come from a common ancestor and that the gene was transfered form human *E. coli* to chicken *E. coli* or viceversa. A recent study in Bolivia found evidence of cross-transmission of *E. coli* between home-raised chickens and humans (Riccobono, *et al.*, 2011).

These genes have been found human commensal *E. coli* and *Klebsiellasp.* in urban settings in Peru and Bolivia (Pallecchi *et al.*, 2009) and clinical *E. coli* and *Klebsiella* sp.isolates in China (Wang A *et al.*, 2008). However other studies found no genetic relationship between Fluoroquinolone Resistance Isolated from humans and chickens (Xia *et al.*, 2010).

Alternatively, these *qnrB* genes may have come from chickens and passed to humans. This idea is in agreement with a previous reports suggesting that some quinolone resistence in human pathogens originated in poultry (McDermott *et al.*,

2001; Johnson *et al.*, 2006; Mathew *et al.*, 2007; Huang *et al.*, 2009, Thorsteinsdottir *et al.*, 2010).

There was a large difference in the percentage of FRI carrying *qnrB* genes in isolates from mixed breed chickens (31.25%) and broiler chickens (3.6%) from remote communities, poultry industrial operation (6%) and FRI obtained from hospitals in Quito (1.6%). This finding may indicate that clinical isolates carried fluoroquinolone resistance genes different from *qnrB*. Also these genes were found in larger percentage in isolates from mixed breed chickens and humans than in Broiler chickens which may indicate that the gene was circulating in the remote communities prior the arrival of the Broiler chickens to the region. When construction of the road had not started, the road then allowed a better access to remote communities.

The preset study found that commensal human isolates from remote communities had 3% fluoroquinolone resistance which is lower than corresponding percentage found in chickens isolates (19%) in the same location. On the other hand prevalence of fluoroquinolone resistance in clinical isolates of *E. coli* in Ecuador has been estimated in 43.7% (REDNARBEC, 2008), however there are no data from human commensal *E. coli*.

Previous studies have raised concerns about the use of quinolones in the animal industry and the potential risk of transference to human pathogens (McDermott *et al.*, 2001; Mathew *et al.*, 2007). Our study provides additional evidence regarding the importance of agricultural use of antibiotics in human health.

### References

Alessiani A, Di Giannatale E, Perilli M, Forcella C, Amicosante G & Zilli K (2009) Preliminary investigations into fluoroquinolone resistance in Escherichia coli strains resistant to nalidixic acid isolated from animal faeces. *Vet Ital***45**: 521-527.

Bates SJ, Trostle J, Cevallos WT, Hubbard A & Eisenberg JNS (2007) Relating diarrheal disease to social networks and the geographic configuration of communities in rural Ecuador.*American Journal ofEpidemiology***166**: 1088-1095.

Cavaco LM & Aarestrup FM (2009a) Evaluation of Quinolones for Use in Detection of Determinants of Acquired Quinolone Resistance, Including the New Transmissible Resistance Mechanisms *qnrA*, *qnrB*, *qnrS*, and *aac*(6\_)*lb-cr*, in *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella enterica* Determinations of Wild-Type Distributions. J. Clin. Microbiol. **47**: 2751–2758.

Cavaco LM, Hasman H, Xia S & Aarestrup FM (2009b) *qnrD*, a novel gene conferring transferable quinolone resistance in *Salmonella entéricas*erovars Kentucky and Bovismorbificans of human origin. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother***53**:603–608.

Eisenberg JN, Cevallos W, Ponce K, Levy K, Bates SJ, Scott JC, Hubbard A, Vieira N, Endara P, Espinel M, Trueba G, Riley LW &Trostle J (2006) Environmental change and infectious disease: how new roads affect the transmission of diarrheal pathogens in rural Ecuador. *ProcNatlAcadSci U S A***103**:19460-5.

French GL (1998) Enterococci and Vancomycin Resistance. Clin. Infect Dis 27: 75-83.

Hawkey PM, & Jones AM (2009) The changing epidemiology of resistance. *J.Antimicrob.Chemother***64**:13-20

García-Fernández A, Fortini1 D, Veldman K, Mevius D & Carattoli A (2009) Characterization of plasmids harbouring*qnrS1*, *qnrB2* and *qnrB19* genes in Salmonella. J. Antimicrob.Chemother**63**: 274–281

Harada K &Asai T (2010) Role of Antimicrobial Selective Pressure and Secondary Factors on Antimicrobial Resistance Prevalence in *Escherichia coli* from Food-Producing Animals in Japan. J. Biomed Biotechnol**00:** 1-12.

Huang SY, Dai L, Xia LN, Du XD, Qi YH, Liu HB, Wu CM & Shen JZ (2009) Increased Prevalence of Plasmid-Mediated Quinolone Resistance Determinants in Chicken *Escherichia coli* Isolates from 2001 to 2007. *Foodborne Pathog Dis***6**: 1203-1209. Jacoby G, Cattoir V, Hooper D, Martínez-Martínez L, Nordmann P, Pascual A, Poirel L& Wang M (2008) *qnr*Gene Nomenclature. *Antimicro.AgentsChemother***52**:2297–2299.

Johnsen PJ, Townsend JP, Bøhn T, Simonsen GS, Sundsfjord A & Nielsen KM (2011) Retrospective evidence for a biological cost of vancomycin resistance determinants in the absence of glycopeptide selective pressures. *J. Antimicrob.Chemother***66**: 608–610.

Johnson JR, Kuskowski MA, Menard M, Gajewski A, Xercavins M&Garau J (2006) Similarity between human and chicken *Escherichia coli* isolates in relation to ciprofloxacin resistance status. J Infect Dis**194**:71-78.

Kuo HC, Chou CC, Tu C, Gong SR, Han CL, Liao JW & Chang SK (2009) Characterization of plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance by the *qnrS*gene in *Escherichia coli* isolated from healthy chickens and pigs. *Vet Med.***54**: 473–482.

Levy K, Nelson KL, Hubbard A & Eisenberg JNS (2008)Following the Water: A Controlled Study of Drinking Water Storage in Northern Coastal Ecuador. *Environ. Health Perspectives***116**: 1533-1540.

Levy K, Hubbard A,Nelson KL, & Eisenberg JNS (2009) Drivers of Water Quality Variability in Northern Coastal Ecuador. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **43**: 1788–1797

Ma J, Zeng Z, Chen Z, Xu X, Wang X, Deng Y, Lu D, Huang L, Zhang Y, Liu J & Wang M (2009) High prevalence of plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance determinants *qnr*, *aac*(6\_)-*lb-cr*, and *qepA*amongceftiofur- resistant *Enterobacteriaceae*isolates from companion and food-producing animals. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother***53**:519–524.

McDermott PF, Bodeis SM, English LL, White DG, Walker RD, Zhao S, SimjeeS&Wagner DD (2002) Ciprofloxacin resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni* evolves rapidly in chickens treated with fluoroquinolones.*J InfectDis* **185**: 837-840.

Mathew AG, Cissell R &Liamthong S (2007) Review Antibiotic Resistance in Bacteria Associated with Food Animals: A United States Perspective of Livestock Production. *Foodborne Pathog Dis* **4**:115-133.

Nelson JM, ChillerTM, Powers JH & AnguloFJ (2006) Fluoroquinolone-Resistant *Campylobacter* Species and the Withdrawal of Fluoroquinolones from Use in Poultry: A Public Health Success Story. *Food Safety* • *ClD*44 : 977-980.

REDNARBEC (2008) Reporte de Resistencias Bacterianas para el año 2008. Agentes Hospitalarios, Agentes Comunitarios. *Red Nacional de Vigilancia de Resistencia Bacteriana de Ecuador*http://www.rednarbec.org1-16

Riccobono E, PallecchiL, Mantella A, Bartalesi F, Chavez I, Trigoso C, Villagran AL, Bartoloni A & Rossolini GM (2011) Carriage of Antibiotic-Resistant *Escherichia coli* Among Healthy Children and Home-Raised Chickens: A Household Study in a Resource-Limited Setting. *Microb.Drug Resist* **00**: 1-5.

Robicsek A, Jacoby GA & Hooper DC (2006) The worldwide emergence of plasmidmediated quinolone resistance. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* **6**:629–640.

Strahilevitz J, Jacoby GA, Hooper DC & Robicsek A (2009) Plasmid-Mediated Quinolone Resistance: a Multifaceted Threat. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev* **22**: 664-689.

Thorsteinsdottir TR, Haraldsson G, Fridriksdottir V, Kristinsson KG & Gunnarsson E (2010) Broiler Chickens as Source of Human Fluoroquinolone- Resistant *Escherichia coli*, Iceland.*Emerg.Infect Dis*16: 133-135.

Vieira N, Bates SJ, Solberg OD, Ponce K, Howsmon R, Cevallos W, Trueba G, Riley L &Eisenberg JN (2007) High prevalence of enteroinvasive*Escherichia coli* isolated in a remote region of northern coastal Ecuador. *Am J Trop Med Hyg***76**:528-33.

Wang M, Guo Q, Xu X, Wang X, Ye X, Wu S, Hooper DC & Wang M (2009) New plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance gene, *qnrC1*, found in a clinical isolate of *Proteus mirabilis*. *Antimicrob*. *Agents Chemother***53**:1892–1897.

Wu JJ, Ko WC, Tsai SH & Yan JJ (2007) Prevalence of Plasmid-Mediated Quinolone Resistance Determinants QnrA, QnrB, and QnrS among Clinical Isolates of *Enterobacter cloacae* in a Taiwanese Hospital. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother***51**:1223–1227.

Xia LN, Li L, Wu CM, Liu YQ, Tao XQ, Dai L, Qi YH, Lu LM & Shen JZ (2010) A Survey of Plasmid-Mediated Fluoroquinolone Resistance Genes from *Escherichia coli* Isolates and their dissemination in Shandong, China. *Foodborne Pathog Dis***7**: 207-215.

Xiong X, Bromley E, Oelschlaeger P, Woolfson DN &Spencer J (2011) Structural insights into quinolone antibiotic resistance mediated by pentapeptide repeat proteins: conserved surface loops direct the activity of a Qnr protein from a Gramnegative bacterium. *Nucleic Acids Research* 1-11.

Yue L, Jiang HX, Liao XP, Liu JH, Li SJ, Chen XY, Chen CX, Lû DH & Liu YH (2008) Prevalence of plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance *qnr*genes in poultry and swine clinical isolates of *Escherichia coli*. *Vet. Microbiol***132**:414–420.

Zhou TL, Chen XJ, Zhou MM, Zhao YJ, Luo XH &Bao QY (2011) Prevalence of Plasmid-Mediated Quinolone Resistance in *Escherichia coli* Isolates in Wenzhou, Southern China, 2002-2008. *Jpn. J. Infect. Dis* **64**: 55-57.

Figure 1. Maximum Parsimony analysis of qnrB genes: Bacterial sequences obtained from humans in Ecuadorian remote communities are named RemHum; sequences from chickens in remote communities are RemChk; *qnrB* from hospital isolate in Quito : *E. coli* Quito27 (hospital) and sequences from isolates from a poultry industrial operation are IndCHK. The rest of the sequences were obtained from GenBank. Numbers are bootstrap values obtained after 500 pseudoreplicates.

# Table 1A. Fluoroquinolone and Gentamycin resistant E. coli from remote

## communities

	Total strains analyzed	% Quinolone Resistant isolates	% Gentamycin Resistant
Isolates from humans	1167	3	1.3
Isolates from chickens	1199	19	14

# Table 1B . Fluoroquinolone resistant E. coli from remote communities

	Total strains analyzed	% Quinolone Resistant isolates	% Quinolone Resistant strains carrying <i>qnrB</i>
Isolates from humans	1167	3	31.25
Isolatesfromchickens (Broilers)	975	20	3.6
Isolates from chickens (mixed breed)	224	14.3	31.25

Figures

Figure 1.

